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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 16-cv-62840-BLOOM /Valle

MAXINE PIERSON

Plaintiff,
V.

OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC,

Defendant.
/

ORDER ONMOTION TO DISMISS

THIS CAUSE is before the Court on Defendafcwen Loan Servicing, LLC’s
(“Defendant”) Motion to DismissECF No. [7] (the “Motion”),seeking dismissal of Plaintiff
Maxine Pierson’s (“Plaintiff’) Complaint, ECF No. [1-2]The Court has caréfy reviewed the
record, the parties’ briefs, and the applicable law. For the reasons set forth below, the Motion is
granted.

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs initially filed this action on Octolyel8, 2016 in the Sewéeenth Judicial
Circuit, in and for Broward Couyt Florida, seeking relief fobefendant’s allege violation of
the Real Estate SettlementoPedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2604t seq (“RESPA”), and its
implementing regulation 12 C.F.R. § 1024,seq (“Regulation X”). SeeECF No. [1-2] at 1 1-
2. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks damages as a regultefendant’s alleged failure to comply with
§ 2605(k) of RESPA and £024.36 of Regulation Xld. at{ 3. Defendant timely removed the

matter to this Court, and now moves to dismiss the Complaint with prejudice.
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Plaintiff's claim stems from Plaintiff’'s mailing of a written request for information
(“RFI") to Defendant pursuant to Regulation Xd. at § 15see also idat Exh. A. Plaintiff sent
her RFI by Certified Mail on September 22, 20Which Plaintiff and her counsel tracked
through a certified tracking numbeld. at Exh. A. The RFI was delivered to Defendant on
September 26, 20165eeECF No. [7] at 3; ECF No. [8] at Zlaintiff's attorney did not receive
a written acknowledgment to theaRitiff's RFI within the requied statutory timeframe and,
consequently, sent a follow-up Notice of Ertetter (‘“NOE”) to Defendant on October 3, 2016.
ECF No. [1-2] at 1 15see also idat Exh. B.

Plaintiff brings one counagainst Defendant for Defendahtalleged violation of 12
U.S.C 8§ 2605(k), under which Plaintiff allege¢hat Defendant viated RESPA § 2605(k)
through violation of Regulation X, 12 C.F.B1024.36(c), by failing to acknowledge receipt of
the RFI within five days.SeeECF No. [1-2] at 11 22-23. As ttamages, Plaintiff claims that as
“a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s failure to comply with Regulation X and RESPA,”
Plaintiff has incurred actual damages ie gimount of $6.45 for postage for mailing the NOE
along with other related costsld. at  24-25. Defendant filehe instant Motion to Dismiss
on December 08, 2016. Plaintiffs Responsg Befendant’s Reply timely followedSeeECF
Nos. [7], [16].

[I. LEGAL STANDARD

Rule 8 of the Federal Rules requires thatleading contain “a shioand plain statement
of the claim showing that the pleader is entitiedelief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). Although a
complaint “does not need detailed factual altexqes,” it must provide “more than labels and
conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of #lements of a cause of action will not d@&ell Atl.

Corp. v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007); s@shcroft v Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
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(explaining that Rule 8(a)j2 pleading standard “demands more than an unadorned, the
defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusation”). the same vein, a complaint may not rest on
“naked assertion[s] devoid of tfrther factual enhancement.Tgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. at 557 (alteration amiginal)). “Factual allegatizs must be enough to raise a
right to relieve above thspeculative level.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555. These elements are
required to survive a motion brought under Rd2(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, which request dismissal for “failuce state a claim upon which relief can be
granted.”

When reviewing a motion under Rule 12(b)@)xourt, as a genenalle, must accept the
plaintiff's allegations as truena evaluate all plausible interfexs derived from those facts in
favor of the Plaintiff. See Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Ha S. Everglades Restoration
Alliance, 304 F.3d 1076, 1084 (fCir. 2002):AXA Equitable Life InsCo. v. Infinity Fin. Grp.,
LLC, 608 F. Supp. 2d 1349, 1353 (S.D Fla. 2009). He@wnethis tenet does not apply to legal
conclusions, and courts “are not bound to acceptuasa legal conclusion couched as a factual
allegation.”Twombly 550 U.S. at 555see Igbal 556 U.S. at 678Thaeter vPalm Beach Cnty
Sheriff's Office 449 F. 3d 1342, 1352 (11Cir. 2006). Moreover, “courts may infer from the
factual allegations in the complaint ‘obvioukeanative explanations,” which suffers lawful
conduct rather than ¢hunlawful conduct the aintiff would ask tie court to infer.”Am Dental
Ass’n v Signa Corp, 605 F. ed 1283, 1290 (“1Cir. 2010) (quotindgbal, 556 U.S. at 682). A
court considering a Rule 12(b) motion is generkthjted to the facts continued in the complaint
and attached exhibits, including documents refeteeth the complaint that re central to the
claim. See Wilchombe.\TeeVee Toondnc., 55 F.3d 1337, 1340 (T1Circuit. 2005) (“[A]

document outside the four corners of the complaint may still be considered if it is central to the
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plaintiff's claims and is undisputad terms of authenticity.”) (citingdorsley v Feldt, 304 F.3d
1125, 1135 (1 Cir. 2002)).
1. DISCUSSION

Defendant moves the Court to dismisg tGomplaint on two separate grounds: (1)
Plaintiff cannot adequately pledte very premise oher claim—i.e., that Defendant did not
provide written receipt of the RFI within @éhpermitted timeframe—because Defendant did in
fact timely respond to Plaintiff's RFI with a lettef acknowledgment that was sent to Plaintiff's
addressseeECF No. [7-1] (“Acknowledgment Letterand (2) Defendant cured any alleged
failure to acknowledge the RFI in accordancghwhe pre-suit notice-and-cure requirement
provided in the underlying mortgage.

Plaintiff claims that Defendant violateRESPA 8§ 2605(k) through its violation of
Regulation X. SeeECF No. [1-2] at 11 22-23.Section 2605 of RE$Pgoverns the “serving of
mortgage loans and administration of escraecounts,” and implicates Regulation X by
providing in relevant parthat “[a] servicer ofa federally related mortgagdhall not . . . fail to
comply with any other obligation found by tiBureau of Consumer Financial Protection, by
regulation, to be appropriate to carry out the consumer protection purposes of this ctizgxer.”
12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E). Section 1024@6(of Regulation X, under the title
“Acknowledgement of receipt,” provides that

Within five days (excluding legal publicolidays, Saturdays, and Sundays) of a

servicer receiving an information requdsbm a borrower, the servicer shall

provide to the borrower a written response acknowledging receipt of the
information request.

! Both parties urge the Court to review the Rifid NOE attached to the Complaint, as well as the
Acknowledgment Letter attached to the Motion, all ofickiithe Court finds centrab Plaintiff's claim.
Accordingly, the court will review the attachments as appropriate in adjudicating the m&ea.
Wilchombe v. TeeVee Toons, Jri&S5 F.3d 949, 959 (11th Cir. 2009).

4
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Defendant argues that Plaffis claim must fail because Defendant indeed responded
timely and adequately to Plaintiff's RFIl. Accard to Defendant, afteeceiving Plaintiff's RFI
on September 26, 2016, Defendant sent a timeknéwledgement Letter to Plaintiff's mailing
address three days later, on September2296. That letter, dated September 29, 2016, is
attached to Defendant’s MotiorSeeECF No. [7-1]. In respons®@]aintiff neither concedes nor
refutes that the Acknowledgment Letter was sent by Defendant or that the Acknowledgment
Letter was sent on the date indicat&keECF No. [8] at 5. Instead/aintiff directs the Court’s
attention to what sheharacterizes as “proofissues” related to the Acknowledgment Letter:
“The letter attached . . . contai no proof of mailing, nor doesetletter itself provide any frame
of reference for the ‘corrpsndence on the above referendedn’ to which it refers.” Id.
(quoting ECF No. [7-1]). Plaintiff seems to imply that consideration of the Acknowledgment
Letter requires conversion dbefendant’'s Motion into a motion for summary judgment,
contending that Defendant “cannotyren mere fiat to prove that this letter was generated in
response to the [RFI], that it was mailed diretdlyhe Plaintiff and that this mailing occurred on
the date set forth in the lette.1d.

“Generally, the districtourt must convert a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary
judgment if it considers matergabutside the complaint. Fed. Riv. P. 12(b). A court may,
however, consider documents attached to aandt dismiss without converting the motion into
one for summary judgment if the documents @re central to the platiff's claim and (2)
undisputed.” Weiss v. 2100 Condo. Assinc. @ Sloan's Cury@012 WL 8751122, at *1 (S.D.
Fla. Oct. 17, 2012) (citindgpay v. Taylor 400 F.3d 1272, 1276 (11th CR005)). Here, the

Acknowledgment Letter is undoubtedly central to Piffiatclaim. Furthermore, the Court finds

2 Plaintiff nonetheless clarifies that she “is not makany accusations against the Defendant with respect
to the specific date of mailing . . . I8l. at 5 n.2.
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there to be no dispute with respect to Asknowledgment Letter, notwithstanding the “proof
issues” raised by Plaintiff. Tbegin with, Plaintiff in no waghallenges the authenticity of the
Acknowledgment Letter and, importantly, makes allegation that she never received the
Acknowledgment Letter at her addsewithin the permitted timefranie See Day400 F.3d at
1276 (“In this context, ‘undisputed’ meansaththe authenticity of the document is not
challenged.”)see also Sutton v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, . 2@ 6 WL 4417688, at *2 n.3 (S.D.
Fla. Aug. 19, 2016) (“The Acknowledgment Lettsr undisputed becaudelaintiffs do not
challenge its authenticity . . . .”). Moreoverafliff is simply incorrect to assert that the
Acknowledgment Letter does not “provide any frame of reference” to the underlying mortgage it
purports to refer to. The Acknowledgment Letisr addressed specifically to Plaintiff at
Plaintiff's address, lists the sanpeoperty address that is associated with the mortgage, and is
dated only three days after the date onctwibDefendant received Plaintiff's RFISeeECF No.

[7-1], [7-2] at 3. The Court therefore findsatlthe Acknowledgment Letter, properly considered

® To the contrary, much of Plaintiffs Response tte Motion takes issue it the fact that the
Acknowledgment Letter was not sent to Plaintiifsunselat the address designated on the R&ée,

e.g, ECF No. [8] at 3 (acknowledging that “Deftant did acknowledge receipt of the NOE and
direct[ed] future correspondence to the Plairdiiflesignated address or such correspondence” but also
stating that “at no time . . . wasdersigned counsel’'s offiever provided with a copy of the alleged
September 29, 2016 acknowledgment letter”) (emphadded). On that point, the Court rejects
Plaintiff's argument that, in any event, Defendant violated 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(c) by sending the
Acknowledgment Letter directly to Plaifftrather than Plaintiff's counselSeeid. at 6-7. This Court
rejected that very argument 8utton v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLZD16 WL 4417688, at *3 (S.D. Fla.
Aug. 19, 2016), a case in which an acknowledgmettgrlevas sent directly to the plaintiff despite a
request in the plaintiff's RFI that all correspondencelibected to her attorney. This Court explained:

[T]he Court declines to read into the statatrequirement that an acknowledgment need
be sent to a borrower’s attorney in ordersttisfy the statutory requirements. Indeed
under the plain meaning of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(c), the statue does not contain a
requirement with respect to where an acknowledgment should be sent.

Id. The Court notes that Plaintiff did not address tase or the proposition it stands for despite being
raised in Defendant’s Motion.
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within the context of Defendant®lotion to Dismiss, conclusivelghows that Plaintiff's claim
must fail. Given that leave to amend would be futile,@lomplaint is dismissed witlrejudice.
Although Defendant’s first basis for dismissaldispositive, the Qurt also finds that
Plaintiffs Complaint is subject to disssal on Defendant’s second basis—namely, that
Defendant cured any alleged failure to acknaolgke the RFI in accordance with the pre-suit
notice-and-cure requirement provided in the gage. Plaintiff does natispute that once she
notified Defendant of its purported failure aoknowledge her RFI by way of the NOE sent on
October 3, 2016, Defendant sent a letter ackedging receipt of the NOE on October 13, 2016,
five days before Plaintiffubsequently filed suitSeeECF Nos. [7-3]; ECF No. [8] at 3. Under
paragraph 20 of the mortgage, Plaintiff is regdito provide notice and a reasonable period of
time to take corrective action prito filing suit. ECF No. [7-2ht 13. Contrary to the position
taken in Plaintiffs Responsesee ECF No. [8] at 8-9, the nat and cure provision of the
underlying mortgage is applicable claims against Defendant asrvicer of the loan despite
Defendant not being a pgrto the underlying contractSee Hill v. Nationstar Mortg. LLQR015
WL 4478061, at *2-3 (S.D. Fla. July 2, 2015) (dismigsall of the plaintiffs’ claims against the
mortgage loan servicer for the plaintiffs’ failure to comply with theéceoand cure provision);
Charles v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust C2016 WL 950968, at *3-4 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 14, 2016)
(rejecting plaintiff's contentiothat the loan servicer, “asreon-party to the mortgage, cannot
enforce the mortgage's pre-suit notice and cuseigion” and further noting that “[o]ther courts,

moreover, have permitted servicers to enforce other mortgage provisions”).
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V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, tORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendant’s
Motion to DismissECF No. [7], isGRANTED. As any amendment would be futile due to the
legal determinations made hereihe Complaint iDISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. The
Clerk is instructed t€L OSE this case.

DONE AND ORDERED in Miami, Florida, thisl5th day of February, 2017.

BETH BLOOM
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE

Copies to:

Counsel of Record



